# **FILED**

JUL 29 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

NO. 934266

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# SHASTA APARTMENTS, LLC, CHARLES R. JOHNSON, II AND ELIZABETH A. JOHNSON,

Petitioners,

v.

UMPQUA BANK,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 12-2-07243-0

and

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II No. 47224-4-II.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### McGavick Graves, P.S.

Lori M. Bemis, WSBA #32921 Joseph P. Zehnder, WSBA #28404 1102 Broadway, Suite 500 Tacoma, WA 98402 Telephone (253) 627-1181 Facsimile (253) 627-2247

**Attorneys for Petitioners** 

###

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners are Shasta Apartments, LLC ("Shasta") and Charles Johnson, II and Elizabeth A. Johnson, and their marital community, (collectively, the "Johnsons"). Shasta and the Johnsons were the defendants in the trial court and the appellants before Division II of the Court of Appeals.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Shasta and the Johnsons seek review of Division II's decision No. 47224-4-II, filed on June 21, 2016. The reporter citation is not available at the time of this filing; it is available by electronic database at Umpqua Bank v. Shasta Apartments, LLC, 47224-4-II, 2016 WL 3457726 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. II June 21, 2016). A copy of Division II's decision is attached hereto in the Appendix.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether Division II incorrectly affirmed the trial court's order granting Umpqua's Motion for Summary Judgment against Shasta and Default Judgment against the Johnsons, awarding a post-sale deficiency judgment in favor of Umpqua against Shasta and the Johnsons, denying Shasta and the Johnsons' Motion for Summary Judgment, and entering Final Judgment on an alleged post-sale deficiency in favor of Umpqua against Shasta and the Johnsons where:

- 1) Umpqua elected to sell Shasta's real estate at a general receiver's sale free and clear of Shasta's right to redemption; and
- 2) Umpqua elected to sell Shasta's real property at a general receiver's sale pursuant to Washington's Receivership Act and such Act does not provide any right to a post-sale deficiency.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Background Facts

On June 15, 2007, Shasta executed a promissory note with Evergreen Bank ("Evergreen") in the principal amount of \$581,226.45. (CP 271). The promissory note was secured by a deed of trust (the "Deed of Trust") encumbering real estate on the same date owned by Shasta. (CP 384). The property was located at 1545 South Fawcett Avenue, Tacoma, Washington (the "Property"). (CP 384). Shasta executed a second promissory note (the "Note") dated August 6, 2009 in favor of Evergreen with a principal balance of \$1,055,271.51. (CP 380-383). On January 25, 2010, Umpqua acquired the Note and related security documents from Evergreen. (CP 273). Charles R. Johnson, II executed a commercial guaranty on August 6, 2009 in favor of Evergreen and a second commercial guaranty on January 28, 2011 in favor of Umpqua (collectively, the "Guaranties"). (CP 394-397, 399-402) Subsequently, Shasta defaulted under the Note and on March 19, 2012, Umpqua filed a

petition (the "Petition") with the Pierce County Superior Court seeking the appointment of a general receiver to ultimately sell the Property and/or judicially foreclose the Property. (CP 1). The trial court entered an order, in the exact form proposed by Umpqua, appointing a general receiver (the "Receiver") on April 6, 2012. (CP 98). In that order, the trial court entered conclusions of law, including the following:

- 2. The terms of the Deed of Trust entitle Umpqua Bank to the appointment of a general receiver for the Property upon Shasta Apartments' default under the Replacement Note and Loan Documents.
- 3. Under RCW 7.60.025, this Court has the authority to specifically enforce those provisions of the Deed of Trust which entitle Umpqua Bank to the appointment of a general receiver.

(CP 1002). The trial court's order also provides as follows: "The Receiver's sale of any collateral property shall be effected free and clear of liens and of all rights of redemption, whether or not the sale will generate proceeds sufficient to fully satisfy all claims secured by the property." (CP 101).

On July 26, 2013, the Receiver filed a motion to approve its sale of the Property free and clear of liens and of all rights of Shasta to redemption. (CP 238). On August 9, 2013, the trial court entered an order again, in the form proposed by Umpqua, approving the sale of the Property free and clear of liens and of all rights of Shasta to redemption.

(CP 238). The order also characterized the sale as an execution pursuant to RCW 82.45.010(3)(i) and therefore exempt from excise taxes. (CP 238). By pursing foreclosure through the receivership and characterizing the foreclosure as an execution sale, Umpqua received the following benefits: (1) sale of the Property free of the cloud of Shasta's right to redeem and (2) exemption from excise tax. (CP 236, 238). Notably, the order appointing the receiver and the order approving the sale make no mention of the right to pursue a deficiency. (CP 101, 238).

#### B. Procedural History

On November 14, 2014, Shasta and the Johnsons filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 368). Umpqua also filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and for Entry of Default Judgment on the same date. (CP 337). The trial court heard oral argument on December 12, 2014 on both motions. (RP December 12, 2014 at pgs. 3-13). The trial court denied Shasta and the Johnsons' motion and granted Umpqua's motion. (RP December 12, 2014 at pgs. 1, 13; CP 511, 499). Shasta and the Johnsons subsequently timely filed this appeal.

In its summary judgment briefing, Umpqua argued that the Johnsons were precluded from making any arguments relative to liability due to the entry of default against them. (CP 466-467). However, it is apparent from the verbatim transcript that the trial court properly reached

the merits of the Johnsons' argument despite the entry of a default order, because a default judgment had not been entered and the validity of such a judgment was at issue. (RP December 12, 2014 at pgs. 3-13).

#### V. ARGUMENT

A petition for review by the Washington Supreme Court will be accepted "if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). This case fulfills such criterion.

A. The Supreme Court Should Grant Review per RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Because This Case Involves Multiple Issues of Substantial and
Vital Public Interest in Washington's Foreclosure System.

Division II's decision in this case involves issues of substantial public interest in that such decision eviscerates this state's well-established and balanced foreclosure system under RCW 61.12 and 61.24, violates debtors' sacred post-sale rights to redemption, and dangerously expands creditors' post-sale rights to seek a deficiency against both commercial and non-commercial borrowers and guarantors.

1. <u>Division II's Decision in This Case Undermines</u>

<u>Washington's Well-Established Foreclosure System under</u>

<u>RCW 61.12 and 61.24 and Is Ripe for Abuse Against Commercial and Non-Commercial Borrowers and Guarantors.</u>

A traditional foreclosure sale may be carried out in Washington under two separate acts -- RCW 61.12 (judicial foreclosure) and 61.24

(non-judicial foreclosure). These different foreclosure methods come with compromises. A party that judicially forecloses real estate (RCW 61.12) is entitled to seek a deficiency, but the real estate is subject to the right to redemption provided in RCW 6.23. Nonjudicial foreclosure (RCW 61.24) is quicker and less expensive and does not provide a right to redemption, but this efficiency comes at a price (i.e., the loss of the right to seek a deficiency, except in limited circumstances prescribed by RCW 61.24.100).

Since 2004, a creditor seeking to sell real estate in which it has a security interest may also avail itself of the Washington Receivership Act (RCW 7.60). Under RCW 7.60.260 a receiver may seek to sell and the court may permit the sale of real property to satisfy, in whole or in part, any allowed claim secured by the property out of the proceeds of its sale. This is the path Umpqua chose to follow in this case in an attempt to take advantage of seeking a deficiency judgment while also still entitling it to sell the Property free of redemption rights. Such a remedy is not permitted under Washington's well-established foreclosure system. The remedies Umpqua combined in this action -- removing any right to redemption under the Receivership Act while retaining the right to a deficiency judgment -- are simply not available under Washington law.

In electing to have the Property sold through a general receivership, Umpqua deprived Shasta (and the Johnsons by assignment) of an essential protection available under the law following a judicial foreclosure of Shasta's Deed of Trust, specifically the right of redemption. "The right of the obligor-mortgagor to free his land from the mortgage by discharging the obligation is a most sacred right; this is obvious." 18 Washington Practice, Real Estate § 17.6. The existence of the right of redemption is a condition precedent to a deficiency judgment. 27 Washington Practice, Creditors' Remedies-Debtors' Relief § 3.6. As provided in Washington Practice, "[i]n a sense, the ability to obtain a deficiency judgment is 'paid for' by the requirement of a redemption period." Id.

Here, in electing to have a general receiver appointed and to not pursue a judicial foreclosure under RCW 61.12, Umpqua both avoided the costly and lengthy redemption period and deprived Shasta and the Johnsons of their statutory right of redemption following a judicial foreclosure sale. The Receivership Act does nothing to alter the long-standing law of Washington providing that where a foreclosure is not accompanied by redemption rights, the resulting trade-off is to extinguish the right to a deficiency judgment. There is no compelling reason to alter the long-standing balance of rights struck between creditor and debtor

established by the Legislature. The result Umpqua obtained here is simply not permitted under Washington law or supported by policy. Umpqua secured the benefit of a sale without the risk of redemption by Shasta and the Johnsons, a right which can only be extinguished in specific ways, under limited circumstances, i.e. pursuant to RCW 61.24. Under Washington law, the elimination of the right of the debtor to redemption is paid by the creditor forfeiting its potential right to pursue a deficiency.

Moreover, Washington Courts have acknowledged this trade off of obligations and benefits relative to executing on collateral repeatedly. In Thompson v. Smith, 58 Wn. App. 361 (1990), the court found:

Here, by accepting the deed in lieu of foreclosure from Israel and then privately selling the property, Thompson essentially carried out a nonjudicial foreclosure without having to follow the statutory procedures of RCW Ch. 61.24. Had he foreclosed nonjudicially pursuant to the statute, he would have been barred from seeking a deficiency judgment on the underlying obligation. Given the policies underlying RCW Ch. 61.24, we can find no authority for permitting Thompson to obtain through selfhelp that which he could not accomplish pursuant to RCW Ch. 61.24. Under the specific circumstances of this case, Smith is entitled to the protection of RCW 61.24.100.

58 Wash. App. at 366. Although <u>Thompson</u> does not deal with a receivership, the analysis underpinning the court's reasoning implicates the same trade-off between the benefits and obligations relative to various methods of foreclosure as presented in this case. Like the litigant in <u>Thompson</u>, Umpqua sought remedies not available after a sale of property

pursuant to the Receivership Act, namely preservation of a right to a deficiency judgment. In <u>Thompson</u>, the Court held that parties may not craft "self-help" remedies to avoid the protections afforded debtors under RCW 61.24. If permitted to stand, Division II's decision here sets a dangerous precedent permitting broad self-help remedies that undermine the protections of both RCW 61.24 and 61.12.

In addition, to permit a creditor like Umpqua to pursue a deficiency where it elected to have a receiver sell the Property instead of a trustee under RCW 61.24 would render Washington's Deed of Trust Act superfluous by allowing deficiencies against borrowers and guarantors alike without requiring the statutorily-mandated procedures and protections afforded under Washington's Deed of Trust Act. The very purpose of Washington's Deed of Trust Act (i.e., to avoid court action and streamline an efficient and inexpensive nonjudicial process to realize on real estate security interests) would be undermined by allowing lenders to disregard numerous obligations imposed upon trustees and protections afforded to guarantors in the sale of collateral secured by a deed of trust.

Specifically, Washington's Deed of Trust Act provides the following obligations and protections: (1) it describes and defines "fair value" of property encumbered by a deed of trust (RCW 61.24.005(6)); (2) it requires strict adherence to statutory notice requirements (RCW

61.24.040; see also Rucker v. Novastart Mortgage, Inc., 177 Wn. App. 1 (2013)); (3) it imposes a duty of good faith owed to guarantors (RCW 61.24.005(3)); (4) it provides recourse to contest any alleged default (RCW 61.24.030(8)(j); RCW 61.24.130); (5) it provides for the right to stop the sale by paying amounts due and owing (RCW 61.24.040(1)(e); (6) it requires that notice be provided to guarantors (RCW 61.24.042); (7) it provides for the right to a fair value hearing (RCW 61.24.042; RCW 61.24.100(5)); (8) it provides for the right to restrain the sale (RCW 61.24.130); and (9) it provides for the right to pursue a deficiency judgment against a guarantor (RCW 61.24.042; RCW 61.24.100(3)(c)). None of these obligations and protections are provided in the Receivership Act.

Division II's decision invites creditors to create their own foreclosure process and utilize the remedies benefitting them without the balance of preserving borrowers' rights to redeem the foreclosed real estate and the other protections borrowers would be afforded under RCW 61.24. Each foreclosure process provides the creditor and debtor with certain rights and obligations. A creditor such as Umpqua cannot be permitted to avoid the statutory methods and the restrictions that accompany those methods by cobbling together the most favorable aspects of various methods of foreclosure. *See* Thompson, 58 Wn. App. 361; Bain

v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83, 285 P.3d 34 (2012); Schroeder v. Excelsior Mgmt. Grp., LLC, 177 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013).

The most shocking aspect of Division II's decision in this case is its rejection of long-standing policy in Washington State forbidding lenders from creating self-help remedies. In the past, a beneficiary under a deed of trust was limited in its remedies and had one of two routes available to it to realize on its collateral – either an RCW 61.12 judicial foreclosure or an RCW 61.24 non-judicial foreclosure with the statutory compromises outlined herein with respect to the right of the creditor to seek a deficiency versus the right of the debtor to seek redemption. The trial court below and Division II on appeal have endorsed crafting a patched together remedy not previously permitted under Washington law, i.e. the ability to commence a general receivership under RCW 7.60, have real estate sold without the right of redemption, and *still* preserve the right to seek a deficiency.

There is nothing in the Division II decision that restricts creditors from skirting Washington's traditional foreclosure system and using the precedent of such decision to foreclose on real estate under RCW 7.60, eliminate the right to redemption, and preserve the right to seek a deficiency against any debtor, whether the debt is commercial in nature or undertaken for personal, family, or household purposes. The basis to have

a receiver appointed under RCW 7.60.025 is extremely broad. Such statute provides, in relevant part, as follows:

- (1) A receiver may be appointed by the superior court of this state in the following instances, but except in any case in which a receiver's appointment is expressly required by statute, or any case in which a receiver's appointment is sought by a state agent whose authority to seek the appointment of a receiver is expressly conferred by statute, or any case in which a receiver's appointment with respect to real property is sought under (b)(ii) of this subsection, a receiver shall be appointed only if the court additionally determines that the appointment of a receiver is reasonably necessary and that other available remedies either are not available or are inadequate:
- (a) On application of any party, when the party is determined to have a probable right to or interest in property that is a subject of the action and in the possession of an adverse party, or when the property or its revenue-producing potential is in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired. A receiver may be appointed under this subsection (1)(a) whether or not the application for appointment of a receiver is combined with, or is ancillary to, an action seeking a money judgment or other relief;
- (b) Provisionally, after commencement of any judicial action or nonjudicial proceeding to foreclose upon any lien against or for forfeiture of any interest in real or personal property, on application of any person, when the interest in the property that is the subject of such an action or proceeding of the person seeking the receiver's appointment is determined to be probable and either:
- (i) The property or its revenue-producing potential is in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired; or
- (ii) The appointment of a receiver with respect to the real or personal property that is the subject of the action or proceeding is provided for by agreement or is reasonably

necessary to effectuate or enforce an assignment of rents or other revenues from the property. For purposes of this subsection (1)(b), a judicial action is commenced as provided in superior court civil rule 3(a), a nonjudicial proceeding is commenced under chapter 61.24 RCW upon the service of notice of default described in RCW 61.24.030(8), and a proceeding for forfeiture is commenced under chapter 61.30 RCW upon the recording of the notice of intent to forfeit described in RCW 61.30.060....

RCW 7.60.025(1)(a) and (b).

In the foreclosure context, a creditor should in all instances be able to satisfy the necessary criteria for the appointment of a receiver under RCW 7.60.025(1)(a) and/or (b) by establishing that the creditor has a probable interest in the property that is the subject of an action and in the possession of the debtor and/or that the revenue-producing potential of the property is in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired. Given the unrestrained nature of Division II's decision and its potential to radically alter the foreclosure system in Washington both as to commercial and non-commercial borrowers and guarantors, this Court should grant review.

2. <u>Division II's Decision in This Case Also Undermines Washington's Well-Established Foreclosure System In That It Created a Right to a Deficiency under the Receivership Act Despite that Such Act Does Not Expressly Provide for a Deficiency.</u>

A secured creditor makes an election of remedies when its debtor defaults. A secured creditor may (1) non-judicially foreclose (RCW

61.24); (2) judicially foreclose (RCW 61.12); (3) sue on the promissory note and/or any guaranties and seek a money judgment (RCW 61.24.100(2)(a)); or (4) seek the appointment of a general receiver to sell the property (RCW 7.60). Foreclosure and deficiency rights are exclusively provided by statute in Washington, whether the collateral is real or personal property. See RCW 61.24, 61.12, 7.60, and 62A.9A. The right to a deficiency judgment in Washington is purely statutory. See Washington Mut. Sav. Bank v. United States, 115 Wn.2d 52, 57, 793 P.2d 969 (1990) clarified on denial of reconsideration, 800 P.2d 1124 (Wash. 1990); see also Bank of Hemet v. United States, 643 F.2d 661, 667 (9th Cir. 1981) and Bradley Engineering and Machinery Co. v. Muzzey, 54 Wn. 227, 229, 103 P. 37 (1909) ("[T]he general rule is that a court of equity has no power to enter a deficiency judgment in an action to foreclose a mortgage unless authorized so to do by statute or rule of court."); see also RCW 61.12.070-080. Once a particular foreclosure process is chosen by a secured creditor, such creditor activates the entire statutory process chosen and the policies embodied therein, and not just parts of the process that the creditor finds useful. As a foreclosure process, the Receivership Act (RCW 7.60) does not provide a right to a deficiency judgment.

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