RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

NO. 93426-6

Sep 21, 2016, 2:41 pm RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHASTA APARTMENTS, LLC, CHARLES R. JOHNSON, II and ELIZABETH A. JOHNSON,

Petitioners,

v.

UMPQUA BANK,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 12-2-07243-0

and

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II No. 47224-4-II

RESPONDENT UMPQUA BANK'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Barbara L. Bollero, WSBA No. 28906 ANGLIN FLEWELLING RASMUSSEN CAMPBELL & TRYTTEN LLP 701 Pike Street, Suite 1560 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 492-2300 bbollero@afrct.com

Attorneys for Respondent Umpqua Bank

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Petitioners Fail to Show Substantial Public Interest Because</u> Div. II Correctly Interpreted the Receivership Act.

Without acknowledging or analyzing any requisite factors, Shasta and the Johnsons argue this Court should grant review under

RAP 13.4(b)(4) because Division II's decision: (1) "eviscerates" judicial

and nonjudicial foreclosure statutes; (2) violates debtors' "sacred"

redemption rights; and (3) "dangerously" expands creditors' deficiency

rights against commercial and consumer debtors. (Petition, p. 5.) Each

assertion is fallacious.

1. The Receivership Act is Not a Foreclosure Statute.

The premise underpinning Petitioners' arguments is that the

Receivership Act, RCW 7.60, et seq., is a "foreclosure process." (Petition,

p. 14.] It is not. Instead, as Division II recognized:

[The Act's] purpose ... is to create more comprehensive, streamlined, and cost-effective procedures applicable to proceedings in which property of a person is administered by the courts of this state for the benefit of creditors and other persons having an interest therein.

Substitute S.B. 6189 § 1, 58th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2004); Umpqua,

supra, 194 Wn. App., at 695; accord, Dep't. of Revenue v. Fed. Deposit

Ins. Corp., 190 Wn. App. 150, 159, 359 P.3d 913 (2015).

Nowhere does the Receivership Act reference itself as a

"foreclosure process" or "foreclosure statute." To the contrary, it

describes a Receiver's appointment as a mandatory "remedy" available

"provisionally" after foreclosure is commenced. RCW 7.60.025(1)(b)(ii). The Legislature would not have defined when foreclosure is commenced, if the Act *itself* is a foreclosure statute. *Id.* Similarly, the Act would not reference "the *pendency* of an action to foreclose" as the basis to appoint a Receiver if that appointment request itself constituted initiation of "an action to foreclose." RCW 7.60.015 (emphasis supplied).

Moreover, this Court recently held the Receivership Act provides a "*remedy*" to a foreclosing lender—but reasoned "the plain language of the statute does *not* suggest that chapter 7.60 RCW was intended to be an *exclusive remedy*." Jordan v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC, 185 Wn.2d 876, 892, 374 P.3d 1195 (2016) (emphasis supplied). Answering certified questions concerning whether a lender may enter secured property before obtaining title by completing nonjudicial foreclosure, this Court held:

The text of the receivership statutes, the legislative intent behind them, and public policy considerations compel us to find that chapter 7.60 RCW is *not the exclusive remedy for lenders* to gain access to a borrower's property.

Id. (emphasis supplied).

The analysis and holding are equally applicable here. Because the Receivership Act does not provide a lender's exclusive remedy, it neither "eviscerates" nor constitutes a foreclosure statute; rather, it is used in conjunction with foreclosure laws, without it being deemed that the lender has elected an exclusive remedy against its debtors.

2. A Court-Ordered Sale Extinguishing Redemption Rights does Not Extinguish Deficiency Rights.

Shasta and the Johnsons argue that a debtor's extinguished

redemption right and a creditor's deficiency right are mutually

exclusive—one must necessarily be traded off by the creditor for the other.

But the answer to that contention is clear in the Receivership Act:

The court may order that a general receiver's sale of estate property ... consisting of real property ... be effected *free and clear* of liens and *of all rights of redemption*, whether or not the sale will generate proceeds sufficient to fully satisfy all claims secured by the property

RCW 7.60.260(2)(b) (emphasis supplied).

Petitioners acknowledge the "long-standing balance of rights

struck between creditor and debtor established by the Legislature"

(Petition, pp. 7-8), but fail to accept that the Legislature meant what it

wrote in the Receivership Act. As this Court noted regarding the Act:

[W]hen engaging in statutory interpretation, our "fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent, and if the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent."

Jordan, supra, 185 Wn.2d at 891 (quoting Dep't. of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)).

The redemption extinguishment wording needs no interpretation, and the meaning is clear. As done here, the trial court may order the Receiver's sale of realty "be effected *free and clear* of liens and *of all rights of redemption*" RCW 7.60.260(2)(b) (emphasis supplied). Petitioners assert Umpqua's limited involvement requesting a Receiver constitutes a "self-help" remedy, barring Umpqua from obtaining deficiency judgment. They confuse the facts here with those considered in *Thompson v. Smith*, 58 Wn. App. 361, 793 P.2d 449 (1990). *Thompson* involved a creditor accepting a deed in lieu of foreclosure, selling the securing property, then suing the debtor for a deficiency. Division I held:

> [The creditor] essentially carried out a nonjudicial foreclosure without having to follow the statutory procedures of RCW 61.24. Had he foreclosed nonjudicially pursuant to the statute, he would have been barred from seeking a deficiency judgment on the underlying obligation. Given the policies underlying RCW 61.24, we can find no authority for permitting [the creditor] to obtain through selfhelp that which he could not accomplish pursuant to RCW 61.24. Under the specific circumstances of this case, [the debtor] is entitled to the protection of RCW 61.24.100.

Id., at 366 (emphasis supplied).

Umpqua's collection efforts did not involve *nonjudicial* foreclosure; instead, Umpqua sued to foreclose *judicially*.¹⁰ Umpqua engaged in no *self-help*—the Receiver, not Umpqua, moved for the sale without redemption rights, and the Court, not Umpqua, ordered it. [CP 98-104.] *Thompson* is distinguishable on—and limited to—its facts, and

¹⁰ Petitioners assertion that Umpqua elected "to have a general receiver appointed and to *not* pursue a judicial foreclosure" (Petition, p. 7 (emphasis supplied)), is unsupported by any citation to the record, and incorrect in view of Umpqua's Complaint seeking *judicial* foreclosure [CP 1-12] and the Court's order that Umpqua's acceptance of proceeds did not constitute a default waiver or cure, nor a foreclosure defense [CP 103-04].

does not hold that redemption extinguishment forces deficiency extinguishment when the lender has sued to foreclose judicially.¹¹

Petitioner's specter of "a dangerous precedent permitting broad self-help remedies" (Petition, p. 9) is a gross overstatement where here the trial court: (1) appointed the Receiver; (2) supervised it by requiring regular reports; and (3) based on uncontroverted evidence introduced without objection, ordered the Property's sale without redemption rights. Shasta and the Johnson's bald assertions that debtors' redemption rights are "sacred" and cannot be extinguished (Petition, p. 5) fail under the unequivocal RCW 7.60.260(2)(b) allowing exactly that.¹²

3. The Decision Does Not Apply to Consumer Loans.

Petitioners' argument that Division II's opinion "dangerously" expands creditors' deficiency rights against both commercial and consumer debtors (Petition, p. 5) is equally specious. The Deed of Trust Act controls nonjudicial foreclosures. It "generally bars deficiency judgments, '[e]xcept to the extent permitted ... for deeds of trust securing *commercial* loans,....'" Umpqua, 194 Wn. App at 697 (quoting RCW 61.24.100(1)) (emphasis supplied); Harvey, supra, 182 Wn.2d at 340.

¹¹ Also see, Wash, Fed. v. Harvey, 182 Wn.2d 335, 341, 340 P.3d 846 (2015) (holding commercial loan guarantors are not protected against deficiency judgments under the Deed of Trust Act; not reaching the question whether the guarantors could waive antideficiency judgment protection).

¹² Notably, *if* Petitioners' redemption rights had not been extinguished, the outcome would be no different. The Receiver did not close sale of the Property until nearly two years after it was appointed [CP 252-53]—a period nearly double that allowed for redemption under RCW 6.23.020(1)(b).

The opinion below involves a *commercial* loan, and is so limited:

The plain language of the Receivership Statute does not expressly permit or preclude a secured creditor of a *commercial* loan from pursuing a deficiency judgment against the grantor and/or guarantor after a court-approved receiver sale of the grantor's property securing the loan.

Umpqua, 194 Wn. App. at 695 (emphasis supplied).

Nowhere in Division II's decision do the words "consumer," "personal,"¹³ "family," or "household" appear. Indeed, homestead property *cannot* be sold by a Receiver *without* the owner's consent.¹⁴

Shasta and the Johnsons provide no analysis of how Division II's decision has the "potential to radically alter the foreclosure system in Washington ... as to ... *non-commercial* borrowers and guarantors[.]" (Petition, p. 13 (emphasis supplied).) No basis exists for an overbroad application of the decision to consumer loans, and Petitioners cite to none.

B. Div. II did Not Create a Substantive Deficiency Right.

Petitioners contend Division II "created a right to a deficiency under the Receivership Act," which does not provide such a right. (Petition, p. 13.) But *Jordan's* holding that the Act is *not* the lender's exclusive remedy defeats Petitioners' wholly unsupported assertion that there exists *no* "right of a creditor to foreclose on or otherwise compel the

¹³ Except one reference to "personal property," quoting RCW 7.60.025(1)(b). Id.

¹⁴ "The court may order that a general receiver's sale ... consisting of real property ... be effected free and clear ... of all rights of redemption, ... unless ... the property is a homestead ... and the owner of the property has not consented to the sale following the appointment of the receiver" RCW 7.60.260(2)(b)(i) (emphasis supplied).

sale of any property ... pursuant to one statutory act and then pursue deficiency rights under another statutory act." (Petition, p. 15.)

This Court recognized "nothing in ... chapter 7.60 RCW requires the appointment of a receiver[.]" *Jordan, supra,* 185 Wn. 2d at 890. It emphasized the Act "merely set[s] forth requirements *should* a receiver be necessary." *Id.,* at 891. It concluded "the plain language ... does *not* indicate [the Act] was meant to provide an *exclusive* remedy" *Id.*

Shasta and the Johnson's protestations that "no [deficiency] exists under the Receivership Act" (Petition, p. 16), are inconsequential because: (1) a deficiency is collectible against a guarantor under RCW 61.24.100(1); (2) a deficiency is collectible against both the guarantor and grantor unless waived, under RCW 61.12.070; (3) the Receivership Act is a remedy, not a foreclosure law; (4) the Act is not an exclusive remedy; and (5) a Receiver may be appointed ancillary to foreclosure, under RCW 7.60.025(1)(b). Because the Receivership Act establishes a "nonexclusive *remedy*," rather than a "*foreclosure process*," it need not address deficiency entitlement, as that is established by foreclosure laws.¹⁵

C. <u>Analysis of Public Interest Factors for Granting Review.</u>

Petitioners cite only RAP 13.4(b)(4) as grounds for review. (Petition, pp. 5, 18.) This Court considers several factors to determine if a decision is of substantial public interest warranting review, *i.e.*, it:

¹⁵ Equally specious is Petitioners' assertion that "Division II completely ignored the competing interests of Shasta and the Johnsons" by not fully quoting the Receivership Act's purpose (Petition, pp. 17-18), when the opinion contains a complete recitation of the Act's purpose immediately above the portion Petitioners cite.

- Has the potential to affect every similar proceeding;
- Invites unnecessary litigation and creates confusion;
- Immediately affects a significant population;
- Presents a public question likely to recur; and

• Renders the future guidance of public officials desirable. State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577-78, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Watson considered a prosecutor's memorandum to all county judges announcing criminal sentencing policies. The Court of Appeals held the memo a public official's *ex parte* communication, such that the decision had broad implications and application, so review was granted. *Id.*, at 577-578.

A more significant factor is the potential to affect similar proceedings. In *In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Bonet*, 144 Wn.2d 502, 513, 29 P.3d 1242 (2001), review was granted under a disciplinary rule identical to RAP 13.4(b)(4).¹⁶ The decision concerned whether a prosecutor may induce a defense witness to not testify at a criminal proceeding, which obviously would affect all such proceedings. This Court also accepted review in *In re Marriage of Ortiz*, 108 Wn.2d 643, 646-647, 740 P.2d 843 (1987), because the Court of Appeals' decision concerning property settlement escalation clause retroactivity and income awards would affect marital dissolution decrees.

The three [RAP 13.4(b)(4)] factors considered essential are: (1) whether the issue is of a public

¹⁶ The former RLD 7.3(a)(4) provided the Supreme Court would accept review when the "petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." *Bonet, supra,* 144 Wn.2d at 512 (quoting RLD 7.3(a)(4)).

or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur.

Hart v. Dep't. of Soc. & Health Servs., 111 Wn.2d 445, 448, 759 P.2d

1206 (1988) (citing, In re Cross, 99 Wn.2d 373, 377, 662 P.2d 828 (1983),

and Sorenson v. Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972)).

Hart summarized the substantial public interest standard cases reviewed:

The continuing and substantial public interest exception has been used in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, ...; the validity and interpretation of statutes and regulations, ...; and matters deemed sufficiently important

Most of the public interest exception cases fall into the first two categories as they tend to present issues which are more public in nature and are more likely to arise again. Further, decisions involving the constitution and statutes generally help to guide public officials. The public interest exception has not been used in statutory or regulatory cases that are limited on their facts, ..., or involve statutes or regulations that have been amended.

The third category includes cases taken by the appellate courts within their discretion because of the importance of the issues involved [such as] ... case involving *definition of death*; ... public *campaign financing and election limit* ordinance

Id., at 449-50 (citations omitted) (emphasis supplied).

D. <u>Acceptance of Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is Unsupported</u>.

Shasta and the Johnsons assert—but provide no analysis how—the

RAP 13.4(b)(4) factors are present here. Division II's decision does not

support those factors because it is governed by the parties' contracts and

foreclosure and receivership statutes that have co-existed and been used without controversy for at least 12 years.¹⁷ The opinion does:

• Not potentially affect every similar proceeding or a significant population, because each collection action is private and fact-specific on the parties' contracts, how or whether the creditor elects foreclosing, seeks a deficiency, the loan is guaranteed, it is a commercial loan, a Receiver is appointed, a sale extinguishing redemption ordered, a deficiency exists, the debtor consents to the sale, *etc.*;

• Not invite unnecessary litigation, because Petitioners' assertion that the Receivership Act provides a lender's exclusive remedy was rejected by this Court in Jordon, supra, 185 Wn.2d at 894;

• Not create confusion generally, because the Receivership Act is clearly not a foreclosure statute, such that a deficiency judgment against commercial loan grantors and guarantors is deemed waived by a Court-ordered sale extinguishing their redemption rights; and

• *Not* present a public question likely to recur, because commercial loan terms, conditions, guarantees, and default are all private matters unique to the parties, as are the lender's collection efforts.

The issues Division II addressed are not of the importance or character this Court has reviewed previously. *Hart, supra*, 111 Wn.2d 445 at 449-50. Further militating against review acceptance is the *Jordon*

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